1987

# Jay Rekward v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Howard Foley Company, Travelers Insurance and Second Injury Fund : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

I. Is the plaintiff, Jay Rekward, entitled to temporary total disability payments during the course of his vocational rehabilitation, even though he has reached a state of medical stability?

II. Is the plaintiff, Jay Rekward, entitled to a higher impairment rating based upon the credible evidence, or in the alternative, is he entitled to a remand for an evidentiary hearing to assess the credibility of the medical opinions?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is brought before the above-entitled court to review an Order of the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah, Workers Compensation Division.

A hearing was held before an administrative law judge of the Industrial Commission on the 10th day of December, 1986. After the conclusion of the testimony, the matter was referred to a medical panel. An objection to the medical panel report was made by Rekward, but was denied in the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order entered by the administrative law judge. A motion for review was filed with the Industrial Commission, which denied the motion. A Petition for Writ of Review was then filed in this court.

The Industrial Commission denied to Rekward temporary total disability benefits during the time he is engaged in vocational rehabilitation. The Commission then awarded permanent partial disability benefits in accordance with the panel report, despite conflicting medical opinions and Rekward's objection to the panel



report, based on the conflicting opinions. No hearing was held to determine the credibility of the opinions.

#### FACTS

Jay Rekward (hereinafter Rekward) was working as a heavy equipment operator for the defendant, Howard Foley Company (hereinafter Foley), during August of 1983. On the 17th day of August, Rekward was involved in an industrial accident when the backhoe he was operating rolled three times down the side of mountain (R. p.6, 28 - 29). Rekward was taken to the Tooele Valley Hospital for emergency treatment (R. p.35) and was subsequently seen by a number of doctors. Dr. Jane Squires ultimately declared him medically stable as of the 21st day of July, 1986 (R. p.74). Her report to the Industrial Commission dated November 6, 1986 indicates that Rekward has not been released for usual work, but has been released for light work (R. p.74). She has also stated that he cannot return to his former occupation (R. p.83). His injuries were described as "neck injury with resultant severe DJD in cervical spine, fibrosis in cervical muscles with decreased range of motion, pain and headaches." (R. p.74). No impairment rating was given, as her employer, the Veteran's Administration, prohibits the giving of written ratings.

Rekward was referred to Dr. Robert Baer, to determine an impairment rating. Rekward was given a thirty percent (30%) impairment rating with an additional five percent (5%) for pain (R. p.90 - 91). Foley (through its insurance carrier, Travelers Insurance Company) requested an independent evaluation, which was performed by Dr. Geoffrey Orme. Dr. Orme found a twenty percent

(20%) impairment rating to the cervical spine, based upon the guidelines established by the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (R. p.178), and a two percent (2%) impairment for decreased sensation in the hand based upon the tables for unilateral spinal nerve involvement (R. p.178 - 179). Dr. Orme stated that Rekward would have difficulty working heavy machinery and that he should pursue vigorous rehabilitation (R. p.179). Dr. Orme felt that Rekward should be trained at lighter work (R. p.179).

Rekward testified that his restrictions included sitting for two hours, standing for two hours, walking for two hours, lifting twenty pounds or less, and bending occasionally (R. p.47). These restrictions were based on the advice of Dr. Squires (R. p.81). He further testified that the Social Security Administration had made a finding that there was no work available in the economy for him due to his injuries, and that he was receiving disability payments from the Social Security Administration (R. p.47 - 48). Rekward has a high school education (R. p.48) and has only training and experience as a heavy equipment operator (R. p.49). He has tried to find employment, but has been physically incapable of doing the work (R. p.49 - 50).

Following a hearing, Rekward was referred to a medical panel for further evaluation (R. p.63, 65). The panel, without referring to any guidelines as to how the rating was arrived at, found a ten percent (10%) impairment referable to cervical spondylosis, ten percent (10%) for depression, one percent (1%) for sensory loss in the right hand, and two and one-half percent

(2.5%) for hearing loss (R. p.212).

An objection to the medical panel report was timely filed, drawing to the attention of the administrative law judge the significant differences between the ratings of Dr. Baer, Dr. Orme and the medical panel (R. p.224 - 227). It was pointed out that Dr. Orme had relied on orthopedic guides in making his ratings, while the medical panel had not. No hearing was held following the objection to the report. The administrative law judge entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, summarily dismissing the objections (R. p.228 - 235). A motion for review was timely filed, again pointing out the discrepancies between the medical reports (R. p.236 - 238). The motion argues that the weight of the credible evidence supports a higher rating (R. p.237). The Motion further sought an award of temporary total disability through the time of Rekward's vocational rehabilitation (R. p.236 - 237). Rekward's Motion was denied and an appeal was taken to this court.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

##### I. REKWARD IS ENTITLED TO TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY PAYMENTS UNTIL HE HAS COMPLETED RETRAINING

Rekward is incapable of being employed without vocational retraining. Since the purpose of the Worker's Compensation Act is to provide for compensation until an injured worker is able to return to work, Rekward is entitled to temporary total benefits until he completes his retraining. This is in harmony with the legislative intent, since the legislature has required referral to the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation, prior to the finding of

permanent total disability.

II. REKWARD IS ENTITLED TO A HIGHER IMPAIRMENT RATING  
BASED UPON THE CREDIBLE EVIDENCE, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE,  
A REMAND FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO ASSESS THE  
CREDIBILITY OF THE MEDICAL OPINIONS

The medical evidence was contradictory as it related to the amount of impairment resulting from Rekward's cervical injuries. Only Dr. Orme indicated how he reached his opinion, having relied on the guidelines of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. Rekward maintains that this report is thus, the most credible. In the alternative, Rekward seeks a remand to assess the credibility of the medical opinions. Although an objection to the medical panel report was made, pointing out the conflicting testimony, no hearing was held. Utah law and fundamental fairness require cross examination to determine credibility or to otherwise establish factual matters. The failure to hold a hearing to allow cross examination, when an objection to the panel report has been filed, is an abuse of discretion, requiring a remand.

ARGUMENT

I. REKWARD IS ENTITLED TO TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY PAYMENTS  
UNTIL HE HAS COMPLETED RETRAINING

All of the testimony presented indicates that Rekward cannot return to his former occupation as a heavy equipment operator (R. p.46 - 50, 74, 83, 118, 179). The independent medical evaluation obtained by Foley recommends vigorous rehabilitation and training for lighter work (R. p.179). Rekward has a high school education and has no training nor experience except as a heavy equipment

operator (R. p.48 - 49). The Social Security Administration has found him totally disabled, there not being any jobs in the economy which Rekward is capable of performing (R. p.47 48). He has tried to find work, but has not been successful (R. p.49-50).

This is factually similar to United Park City Mines Company vs. Prescott, 15 Utah 2d 410, 393 P.2d 800 (1963). In that case, a miner was injured in an industrial accident. The injury sustained rendered him incapable of returning to work at his former occupation. The employer argued he could do lighter work and was entitled only to an award of permanent partial disability. The Supreme Court disagreed, holding:

In considering the attack upon the order made, these principles ought to be kept in mind: that a worker may be found totally disabled if by reason of the disability resulting from his injury he cannot perform work of the general character he was performing when injured, or any other work which a man of his capabilities may be able to do or to learn to do; ...  
393 P.2d at 801-802.

In Marshall vs. Industrial Commission, 681 P.2d 208 (Utah 1984), a coal miner was injured and was unable to return to mining as an occupation. Although his impairment rating was found to be only twenty-six percent (26%), he was awarded permanent total disability payments because his disability was total, in terms of employability. The Supreme Court stated:

At the outset, we note that the purpose of the Worker's Compensation Act is "to secure workmen ... against becoming objects of charity, by making reasonable compensation for calamities incidental to the employment ..." [citation omitted]. This compensation is not in the form of damages for injury, as in a tort action, but in the form of payments to compensate for the loss of employability resulting from the injury. [citation omitted]. Thus, the Utah Worker's

Compensation Statutes key the amount of the weekly payment not merely to the medical nature of the injury, but to a percentage of the worker's average weekly wages, reflecting the economic impact of the injury on the particular individual. (Emphasis in original).  
681 P.2d at 210-211.

A long line of cases follow these principles that impairment and disability are different concepts and a worker may be disabled even though his physical impairment may be slight. See Norton vs. Industrial Commission, 728 P.2d 1025 (Utah 1986); Hardman vs. Salt Lake City Fleet Management, 725 P.2d 1323 (Utah 1986); Entwistle Company vs. Wilkins, 626 P.2d 495 (Utah 1981); Brundage vs. IML Freight, Inc., 622 P.2d 790 (Utah 1980); Morrison-Knudson Construction Company vs. Industrial Commission, 18 Utah 2d 390, 424 P.2d 138 (1967).

Thus, a worker suffering an industrial injury, who is unable to return to his former occupation, should be held to be permanently totally disabled. In this case, Rekward, by consensus medical opinion, cannot return to his former occupation as a heavy equipment operator. Dr. Squires, the treating physician, imposed certain restrictions limiting Rekward to sitting for two hours, standing for two hours, walking for two hours, occasional bending and stooping, and lifting no more than fifteen to twenty pounds (R. p.81). Rekward has a high school education and has no training nor experience other than as a heavy equipment operator (R. p.48 - 49). The Social Security Administration has found there is no work he is capable of performing in the economy (R. p.47 - 48). The independent evaluation by Dr. Orme indicates Rekward can probably be retrained (R. p.179). Indeed, Rekward feels he can be retrained and is desirous of being retrained. He

had taken the initiative prior to the hearing, to have himself accepted into an Idaho vocational rehabilitation program (R. p.24). This is expected to be a two-year program. Until that program is completed, it is not known if Rekward can be retrained or not.

Because Rekward is hopeful of being retrained, he had not asked for permanent total disability, but has asked that temporary total disability continue through his retraining. He should not be penalized by his ambitious desire to retrain himself and make himself productive. Indeed, Rekward is totally disabled absent retraining. However, he is not eligible for total disability payments until after a referral to the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation. Utah Code Annotated Section 35-1-67 (1953 as amended) provides that permanent total disability cannot be paid an employment until after referral to and the employee's cooperation with the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation. Thus, the legislature had in mind a rehabilitation program prior to the awarding of total disability payments. Given the purpose of the Worker's Compensation Law as set forth in Marshall vs. Industrial Commission, 681 P.2d 208, 211 (Utah 1984) "... to compensate for the loss of employability ...", the legislative intent is best met by allowing temporary total disability payments through the retraining mandated by Utah Code Annotated Section 35-1-67 (1953 as amended). Indeed, the purpose of temporary total disability payments is to compensate an injured worker until they are able to return to work. In Intermountain Health Care, Inc. vs. Ortega, 562 P.2d 617, 619 - 620 (Utah 1977) the Supreme Court

stated: "said benefits [temporary total] are intended to compensate a workman during the period of healing and until he is able to return to work ..." At the conclusion of the retraining, a determination of permanent total, or permanent partial disability may be made.

The Minnesota Court in Schulte vs. C. H. Peterson Construction Company, 278 Minn. 79, 153 N.W.2d 130 (1967) has reached this conclusion. In a case involving a 48 year old injured worker, with a high school education, unable to return to his former occupation, the Supreme Court stated:

It is well settled that the concept of total disability is not a mere reflection of an employee's physical condition. Minnesota Statutes 176.101, Subdivision 5, defines "total disability" as meaning, among other things, "any other injury which totally incapacitates the employee from working at an occupation which brings him an income". This court in interpreting this language has formulated the rule that a person is totally disabled if his physical condition, in combination with his age, training and experience, and the type of work available in his community, causes him to be unable to secure anything more than sporadic employment resulting in an insubstantial income. A total disability is temporary when it is likely it will exist over a limited period of time only. If the inability-to-earn-wages aspect of the rule is satisfied, the fact that the injury itself is permanent and partial in a physical sense will not preclude a determination that the employee has a temporary total disability. The concept of temporary total disability is primarily dependent upon the employee's ability to find and hold a job, not his physical condition.  
153 N.W.2d at 133-134.

Although this decision is based on a statute that relates to income, the decision is wholly consonant with the purpose of the Utah Act, to provide temporary compensation while the employee is unable to be employed. In addition, the Utah Statute (Utah Code Annotated section 35-1-65) ties compensation to a percentage of income.



In Minshall vs. Plains Manufacturing Company, 215 Neb. 881, 341 N.W.2d 906 (1983) the injured worker was unable to return to his former occupation. He had received some retraining, but was not employable, due to his industrial injuries, though he attempted to work. He had been given a twenty percent (20%) permanent impairment rating by one of his doctors. Nevertheless, the court held:

A workman who is unable to perform or to obtain any substantial amount of labor, either in his particular line of work or in any other for which he would be fitted except for the injury, is totally disabled within the meaning of the Workmen's Compensation Act [citation omitted].  
341 N.W.2d at 909.

See also State Ex Real. Horne vs. Industrial Commission, 18 Ohio State 3rd 79, 489 N.E.2d 753 (1985) and Barkdull vs. Homestake Mining Company, 317 N.W.2d 417 (S. D. 1982).

Foley, in responding to Rekward's motion for review, relied on Booms vs. Rapp Construction Company, 720 P.2d 1363 (Utah 1986). In Booms, the injured worker, although stable enough to receive an impairment rating, wanted to continue his temporary total payments until a specific finding of being able to return to work was made by the Industrial Commission. The court ruled, on the facts of that case, that temporary total benefits cease when the injury is medically stable. This is not necessarily inconsistent with Rekward's request, under the facts of this case, in light of the statute and case law in interpreting the Worker's Compensation Act. In Marshall vs. Industrial Commission, 681 P.2d 208 (Utah 1984), the injured worker was stable enough to receive an impairment rating of twenty-six percent (26%), but was found to be totally disabled because he could not return to his work. In

Norton vs. Industrial Commission, 728 P.2d 1025 (Utah 1986), the injured worker had received a permanent partial impairment rating of thirty-one percent (31%), yet was found totally disabled due to his inability to return to work. In Brundage vs. IML Freight, Inc., 622 P.2d 790 (Utah 1980) the worker received a thirty percent (30%) impairment rating, but was found to be totally disabled because he could not return to work. The court further held, in the absence of contradictory evidence concerning the employability of the injured worker, that the employer has the burden of proving available work:

In the face of such evidence, none of which was contradicted, it then became incumbent upon the defendants to show that plaintiff "is able to secure employment of a special nature not generally available or that he is able to perform the duties of such employment." {citation omitted}  
622 P.2d at 792.

Rekward should not be penalized because of his desire to return to work, and thus has asked for temporary total, rather than permanent total, benefits during his retraining. Indeed, the Supreme Court in Entwistle Company vs. Wilkins, 626 P.2d 495 (Utah 1981) observed:

The law should not and does not encourage indolence by requiring that a man be completely idle in order to remain eligible for disability compensation.  
626 P.2d at 497.

Indeed, the legislative intent is to prevent indolence. Utah Code Annotated Section 35-1-67 (1953 as amended) requires vocational rehabilitation before a permanent total disability is found. Thus, an uncontradicted inability to work, despite medical stabilization, justifies a payment of temporary total benefits through vocational retraining, when the extent of the permanent

total or permanent partial disability can be better known.

Thus, the issue of receiving temporary total payments through retraining is a distinct issue from that presented in Booms. Rekward is entitled to temporary total benefits, in order to carry into effect the purposes of the Worker's Compensation Act to rehabilitate injured workers and to provide for their financial needs until they can be productive following their injuries, and to prevent them from being public charges and objects of charity.

II. REKWARD IS ENTITLED TO A HIGHER IMPAIRMENT RATING  
BASED UPON THE CREDIBLE EVIDENCE, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE,  
A REMAND FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING TO ASSESS THE CREDIBILITY  
OF THE MEDICAL OPINIONS

Because Rekward's treating physician was prohibited from making an impairment rating by the Veteran's Administration policies, the three ratings given Rekward were all independent. Dr. Baer found a thirty percent (30%) impairment for his cervical injuries. Dr. Orme found a twenty percent (20%) impairment due to the cervical injuries, and the medical panel found a ten percent (10%) impairment due to the cervical injuries. Only Dr. Orme, of the three evaluators, indicated how he calculated the impairment rating. Dr. Orme, in determining the cervical impairment, relied on the guidelines established by the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (R. p.179). Absent a hearing to assess the credibility of the various ratings, Dr. Orme's report must be deemed the most credible, as it is the only one setting forth the guidelines relied upon.

The administrative law judge apparently did not hold a hearing due to his belief that "so that while at first blush the

ratings of Dr. Orme and the medical panel would seem inconsistent, upon the bigger view, it is clear that both are consistent." (R. p.229). This statement was based on the fact that the total impairment, as found by the panel is twenty-three percent (23%), while the total impairment as found by Dr. Orme, was twenty-two percent (22%). However, Dr. Orme did not rate the psychiatric injury and the hearing loss, which were rated by the panel. Indeed, Dr. Orme could not rate them, as he is not a psychiatrist nor an audiologist. Thus, comparing the ratings for the cervical injuries, which were rated by both, there is a great disparity between the twenty percent (20%) found by Dr. Orme and the ten percent (10%) found by the panel.

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