1987

Jay Rekward v. Industrial Commission of Utah, Howard Foley Company, Travelers Insurance, and Second Injury Fund : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

It should also be pointed out that in this case, Plaintiff is not being penalized for not requesting permanent total disability benefits as intimated in Plaintiff's Brief. He is not eligible for such benefits. A consideration of the

relevant factors in determining permanent total disability shows that Plaintiff fails to meet the standard. He is too little disabled for his age and education level to be permanently totally disabled. Instead, he was awarded permanent partial disability by the Commission. Plaintiff did not allege below and does not claim on appeal that he is entitled to permanent total disability benefits.

B. Other Authorities Agree with Utah's Analysis.

The leading authority in the workers' compensation field agrees with the Utah Supreme Court's analysis. Professor Larson discusses the four-way classification of disabilities which Utah and many other states employ, and states that with regard to temporary total disability awards,

The commonest question is: when does the "healing period" end and "stabilization" occur? The answer to this question determines in most states when temporary benefits cease and when the extent of permanent disability can be appraised, for purposes of making either a permanent partial or a permanent total award.

2 Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, § 57.12(b) (1983). He goes on to state that "the issue may be a purely medical one." Id., § 57.12(c). That is clearly the case in Utah under Booms, which states that "identifying when the healing period has ended does not require a finding of ability to work; stabilization is strictly a medical question." 720 P.2d at 1367.

Professor Larson also addressed the problem Plaintiff complains of in this case--where stabilization occurs but the

claimant is unable to return to work. After criticizing a statutorily compelled result in Minnesota that a claimant is entitled to get temporary total benefits until he finds work, he states:

Once the physical condition is stabilized, the question becomes: is the inability to get work the result of the injury? If it is, the straightforward approach would then be to find the claimant permanently disabled by his residual impairment. If later the claimant gets steady employment, the case can be reopened. In the meantime, the claimant is definitely disabled in the compensation sense, because his physical impairment causes his unemployment; but at the same time the disability cannot accurately be characterized as temporary, since it has become stable and what remains is permanent. By the process of elimination, one comes to a total permanent award, subject of course to reopening.

Id. § 57.12(d). It is clear that Professor Larson would not agree with Plaintiff's attempt to obtain continued temporary benefits after medical stabilization in a state with both temporary and permanent benefits.

C. Plaintiff Fails To Show Contrary Utah Authority Or To Distinguish Controlling Utah Decisions.

The cases cited in Plaintiff's brief are not helpful in determining the issue before the Court and their selection evidences a fundamental misunderstanding of Utah's statutory structure which provides for both temporary and permanent benefits. Plaintiff argues that since he is unable to return to his former occupation, he is entitled under Utah law to temporary total benefits. As support for this proposition, he cites a number of Utah cases, every one of which deals with permanent

total disability, not temporary total disability. The standard of total disability discussed in the cases Plaintiff cites is for an award of permanent total disability. It is not applicable in cases of temporary total disability, due to the different standards used and purposes served by the categories. Booms and Johnson, supra, are controlling law as to when temporary total disability benefits terminate, and they do not permit the award of additional temporary benefits of any kind to Plaintiff in this case since he has been transferred to permanent status.

Plaintiff also asserts that under Intermountain Health Care, Inc. v. Ortega, 562 P.2d 617 (Utah 1977), a claimant is entitled to temporary total benefits "until he is able to return to work." 562 P.2d at 620. This is not controlling law in Utah. Neither Booms (Utah 1986) nor Johnson (Utah 1987) can be read to support the claim that an applicant is entitled to receive temporary total benefits after he or she is moved to permanent status, regardless of ability to work. Booms expressly rejected the argument that a claimant must be able to work before temporary total benefits cease. Therefore, the dicta in Ortega relied on by Plaintiff has been implicitly overruled by more recent cases and is of no weight.

Plaintiff asserts that he is unable to work. If that is true and he is not able to be retrained for any other job, then he might become eligible for permanent total disability benefits. The Industrial Commission retains jurisdiction over all its cases and could impose such additional liability on the employer if the

circumstances warrant. If Plaintiff does turn out to be permanently totally disabled, he will get his compensation. If he does not, then he is not entitled to more than the temporary total disability benefits received during his period of healing and the permanent partial disability compensation he was awarded as a result of the permanent impairment he suffered from the accident. To permit Plaintiff to receive additional temporary total disability benefits would violate the letter, spirit and structure of the workers' compensation statute, and directly contradict the Supreme Court's opinion in Booms.

Plaintiff does not attempt to distinguish Booms, except to refer to "the statute and case law . . . interpreting the Worker's [sic] Compensation Act." Appellant's Brief, p.10. As discussed above, the structure of the Act requires that no temporary benefits be awarded once the claimant reaches permanent status, and the only Utah case law Plaintiff refers to are cases involving permanent total disability awards, which is not an issue in this case. There is no authority under Utah law to permit a claimant to continue to receive temporary total benefits because he is unable to return to work once he reaches medical stabilization and is awarded permanent benefits under UTAH CODE ANN. § 35-1-66 or 35-1-67. Booms is controlling in this area, and Plaintiff's first claim of error should be dismissed, affirming the Order of the Industrial Commission.

II. THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S FINDING AS TO THE EXTENT OF PLAINTIFF'S PERMANENT PARTIAL DISABILITY IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND MAY NOT BE DISPLACED.

Plaintiff's second point on appeal is that he is entitled to a higher impairment rating for his permanent partial disability. It is well established that such a rating is a question of fact. Entwistle Company v. Wilkins, 626 P.2d 495, at 498 (Utah 1981) ("The extent and duration of an employee's disability are questions of fact to be determined by the Commission."). While Plaintiff urges this Court to adopt a different impairment rating, it is clearly improper for this Court to make findings of fact. Instead, its function is to determine if the Commission acted properly in coming to its conclusions, and if not, to remand for further action. The standard of review of the Industrial Commission's findings of fact is not, as Plaintiff's brief discusses, whether they are supported by the most "credible" evidence, but rather whether there is "substantial evidence" to support the facts as found by the Commission. As stated in Entwistle,

We review the evidence in the light most favorable to the Commission's findings, and when there is substantial evidence to support the facts as found by the Commission, its order will not be disturbed.

626 P.2d at 498.

In this case, it is clear that there is substantial evidence to support the Commission's findings as to the extent of Plaintiff's impairment. The Commission adopted the determination

of the medical panel, which was in turn substantially the same total amount of impairment as determined by Dr. Orme.

The Utah Supreme Court recently dealt with a very similar case in Rushton v. Gelco Express, 732 P.2d 109 (Utah 1986). There the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) granted certain medical benefits and temporary total disability benefits, but denied claims for additional temporary total benefits and permanent partial benefits. The Court affirmed this determination and stated:

. . . this Court will not disturb the findings and orders of the Commission unless they are arbitrary and capricious, and they are arbitrary and capricious when they are contrary to the evidence or without any reasonable basis in the evidence. Plaintiff argues, in essence, that the findings in this case are arbitrary and capricious because the administrative law judge adopted the findings of the medical panel rather than those of Dr. Kimball, the treating physician.

732 P.2d at 111 (citations omitted). After refusing to rule that a treating physician's findings should be given preference as a matter of law, the Court went on to find that the Commission's adoption of the medical panel's report was not arbitrary and capricious because it was supported by substantial evidence.

In this case, Plaintiff is, in essence, arguing that the Commission's findings were arbitrary and capricious because the administrative law judge adopted the findings of the medical panel rather than those of Dr. Orme, the independent medical examiner. In this case, just as in Rushton, the medical panel's report was based on "not only its examination of and interview with

Plaintiff, but also on the reports, test results, and x-rays from the previous examinations of Plaintiff's treating physicians," 732 P.2d at 112, as well as of the independent medical examiners. The medical panel report (R. 207-218) refers to the reports of both Dr. Baer and Dr. Orme, which are relied on by Plaintiff, as well as the many other doctors who had seen Plaintiff.

The medical panel report drew approximately the same overall conclusion regarding the total extent of Plaintiff's permanent disability and the amount attributable to the industrial accident as Dr. Orme, but divided the amount of impairment attributable to the various causes in a different manner. As the Industrial Commission stated in its Order Denying Motion for Review,

It is clear that, prior to hearing, there existed considerable medical controversy regarding the Plaintiff's overall permanent partial impairment. It is the resolution of exactly this kind of medical controversy that causes the need for medical panels. The Commission considers it entirely proper for the Administrative Law Judge to rely on the medical panel findings absent some good reason to believe the medical panel did not thoroughly or impartially review the matter. In this case, counsel for the applicant fails to point out bias on the part of the medical panel or their failure to consider all the evidence. He simply states that the medical panel's rating differs with that of two other doctors. The Commission finds this is insufficient to support the contention that the Administrative Law Judge erred in relying on the medical panel findings.

(R. 245-246). The Defendant Employer and Insurer submit that the Industrial Commission was correct, and that there is no reason to upset the factual determination of the Commission.

Plaintiff's complaint is basically that he was not awarded enough permanent partial disability for his back problems. The medical panel was chaired by Dr. Moress, a neurologist, and included Dr. Holbrook, an orthopedic surgeon. They interviewed Plaintiff and had access to all his medical records. Their opinion regarding the extent of Plaintiff's permanent disability due to his back problems is well-founded and credible. There is no indication that the panel failed to consider any of the medical evidence, and Plaintiff did not present any additional medical evidence after the panel's report or claim that the panel was in any way biased. There is no reason for this Court to determine that the Commission's conclusion regarding the extent of Plaintiff's permanent partial disability is not supported by substantial evidence is therefore proper. The Industrial Commission's determination of Plaintiff's permanent partial disability should be affirmed.

III. PLAINTIFF IS NOT ENTITLED TO ANOTHER HEARING IN THIS CASE.

A. Plaintiff Failed to Raise This Issue Below and Cannot Raise for the First Time on Appeal.

Plaintiff also argues that in the event the Court does not overstep its function and make new findings of fact, as he requests, he should be given a hearing regarding the credibility of the medical evidence. Plaintiff did not request such a hearing in his Objection to the Medical Panel's Report (R. 224-227), and did not submit any other request, either written or oral, for such a hearing to the ALJ. Moreover, he did not raise the issue

in his Motion for Review to the Industrial Commission (R. 236-238). Plaintiff even fails to raise it in the Petition for Review filed with this Court, dated August 27, 1987 (R. 248-249). The first time the issue appears is in the Docketing Statement he filed with this Court, dated September 16, 1987 (R. 251-253).

Utah law is well established that a party may not raise an issue on appeal which was not presented for decision to the trial court below. See, e.g., Lane v. Messer, 731 P.2d 488 (Utah 1986); Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co., 659 P.2d 1040 (Utah 1983). While no Utah cases have been found on this issue in the context of review of an administrative agency's decision, the same principle should apply.

Professor Larson agrees with this proposition, stating:

. . . when the rule whose relaxation is in question is more than a merely formal requirement and touches substantial rights of fair play, the relaxation is no more justified on a compensation appeal than on any other. Such a rule is that forbidding the raising on appeal of an issue that has not been raised below or the revieval of an issue that has been conceded, abandoned, or otherwise resolved.

3 Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, § 77A.83 (1987) (footnotes omitted).

Other states have also reached this conclusion. In Lewis v. Anaconda Company, 168 Mont. 463, 543 P.2d 1339 (1975), the Montana Supreme Court noted in a footnote that the claimant could not raise a constitutional question of due process for the first time on appeal, and therefore did not consider it. Similarly, in Smith v. Workmen's Compensation Appeal Board, 40 Pa. Commw. 117,

396 A.2d 905 (1979), the court stated that the claimant could not complain of the referee's actions if he had not raised the issue to the Board.

Since Plaintiff failed to raise any claim of entitlement to a second hearing to either the ALJ or the Commission, they did not have an opportunity to rule on the issue, and Plaintiff should be precluded from raising it now on appeal.

B. Such a Hearing Is Permissive, Not Mandatory, and the ALJ's Failure to Order Such a Hearing Without a Request from any Party Cannot Be Error.

Even if the Court were to permit Plaintiff to raise this issue for the first time in this appeal, there is no basis for remand. UTAH CODE ANN. § 35-1-77 (1982) states in pertinent part that if objections are filed to a medical panel's report, "the commission may set the case for hearing to determine the facts and issues involved. . . ." It is clear that a hearing after the medical panel submits its report is, under the 1982 amendment, not mandatory, but within the discretion of the ALJ. See, e.g., Moore v. American Coal Company, 737 P.2d 989 (Utah 1987). Therefore, mere failure to have a hearing which is not mandated cannot be error. If Plaintiff had requested a hearing and been refused, he would at least arguably have a claim that the ALJ had abused his discretion in refusing to grant the hearing. In this case, however, there was no request for a second hearing to inquire into the credibility of the medical panel's report, and the Court cannot decide as a matter of law that the failure to provide a

hearing is error when the legislature left that decision to the discretion of the ALJ.

Plaintiff relies on UTAH CODE ANN. § 35-1-82.51 (1965), which protects the parties' right to cross-examine. There was no denial of that right in this case. Plaintiff did not request any opportunity to cross-examine the members of the medical panel, as § 35-1-77 expressly provides, and cannot claim that his failure to so request entitles him to a remand. This case is analogous to a case where an attorney fails to cross-examine at the hearing and then attempts to complain on appeal that he was denied the opportunity to cross-examination when in fact he did not take his chance. Plaintiff has waived any right to complain of the lack of a second hearing in this case.

CONCLUSION